
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel  

 
 

Agenda 
West Mercia Police and 
Crime Panel 
 
Monday, 11 July 2022, 10.00 am 
County Hall, Worcester 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This document can be made available in other formats (large print, audio tape, computer disk and 
Braille) on request from Scrutiny on telephone number 01905 844963 or by emailing 

scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Find out more online: 
www.worcestershire.gov.uk 

 
 
 

mailto:democraticServices@worcestershire.gov.uk


 

 



 

Agenda produced and published by Assistant Director for Legal and Governance, County Hall, Spetchley 
Road, Worcester WR5 2NP 
 
To obtain further information or a copy of this agenda contact Samantha Morris, Scrutiny Officer on 
Worcester (01905) 844963  email: sjmorris@worcestershire.gov.uk   
 
Reports and supporting information can be accessed via the Council’s website at  
www.worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Date of Issue: Friday, 1 July 2022 

 
 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel 
Monday, 11 July 2022, 10.00 am, County Hall, Worcester 
 
Membership:   

 
Cllr Aled Luckman (Chairman) Substantive Member - Worcestershire County Council 
Cllr Barry Durkin (Vice 
Chairman) 

Co-opted Member - Herefordshire Council 

Cllr Sebastian Bowen Substantive Member - Herefordshire Council 
Cllr Helen Jones Substantive Member - Bromsgrove District Council 
Cllr Tom Wells Substantive Member - Malvern Hills District Council 
Cllr Nyear Nazir Substantive Member - Redditch Borough Council 
Cllr Nigel Lumby Substantive Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Jeff Anderson Co-opted Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Roger Evans Co-opted Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Vivienne Parry Co-opted Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Jim  Lavery Substantive Member -  Telford and Wrekin Council 
Cllr Paul Watling Co-opted Member - Telford and Wrekin Council 
Cllr Rob Adams Substantive Member - Wychavon District Council 
Cllr James Stanley Substantive Member - Worcester City Council 
Cllr Graham Ballinger Substantive Member - Wyre Forest District Council 
Mrs C Clive Co-opted Independent Lay Member 
Ms Beth McDowall Co-opted Independent Lay Member 

 
Agenda 

 

Item No Subject Page No 
 
 

1  Welcome and Introductions 
 

 

2  Named Substitutes 
 

 

3  Apologies and Declarations of Interest 
 

 

4  Public Participation 
Members of the public wishing to take part should notify the Assistant 
Director for Legal and Governance in writing or by e-mail indicating both 
the nature and content of their proposed participation no later than 
9.00am on the working day before the meeting (in this case Friday 8 July 
2022).  Further details are available on the Council's website.  Enquiries 
can also be made through the telephone number/e-mail address listed in 

 

mailto:sjmorris@worcestershire.gov.uk
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/


Item No Subject Page No 
 

 

this agenda and on the website. 
 

5  Confirmation Hearing - Chief Executive of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner's Office 
Please note that although it will seek to avoid doing so, the Panel may 
need to move into exempt session when considering part of the report.  
If that is the case the following motion will be moved: 
 
‘That the press and public be excluded from the meeting as it is 
likely that exempt information relating to any individual will be 
disclosed and the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosure.’ 
 

1 - 44 

 
 
 
NOTES  

 Webcasting 
 

Members of the Panel are reminded that meetings of the West Mercia Police 
and Crime Panel are Webcast on the Internet and will be stored electronically 
and accessible through the Council's Website. Members of the public are 
informed that if they attend this meeting their images and speech may be 
captured by the recording equipment used for the Webcast and may also be 
stored electronically and accessible through the Council's Website. 
 



 

  

 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 11 July 2022 
 

 

 

WEST MERCIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
11 JULY 2022 
 

CONFIRMATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
 

Recommendation 

1. It is recommended that the Police and Crime Panel considers the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s preferred candidate, Gareth Boulton, for the 
role of Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 

Executive Summary 
 
2. The purpose of this report is to enable members of the Police and Crime Panel 

(PCP) to consider the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (PCC) proposed permanent 
appointment of a Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer.  

 
3. In doing so, the panel must satisfy itself that the preferred candidate selected by the 

PCC has the professional competence to undertake the role and has significant 
personal independence to be able to act operationally independently of the PCC.  

 
4. The report provides an overview of the appointment process that was undertaken 

between May and June 2022 by the PCC to select the preferred candidate. 

 

Introduction and background 
 
5. This appointment is a statutory requirement arising from the former post holder, Andy 

Champness, leaving the organisation in March 2022.  
 
6. The PCC must under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (Act) 

notify the PCP of the preferred candidate for appointment as Chief Executive Officer.  
Schedule 1 of the Act states that the PCC must provide the following information: 

 
a) The name of the person whom the PCC is proposing to appoint;  
b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate  
c) Why the candidate satisfies these criteria; and  
d) The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed. 

 
7. Also provided for the PCP’s consideration are: 

 
i) The recruitment, application and interview process; 
ii) The candidate recruitment pack including the role profile and person 
specification; 
iii) The criteria used for assessment; 

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 5



 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 11 July 2022 
 

 

iv) CV / covering letter of the preferred candidate. 

 

Issues for Consideration 
 
Advertisement 
 
8. The role of Chief Executive Officer was advertised between the 12th May 2022 and 

6th June 2022 by Gatenby Sanderson, a well-established recruitment agency, 
specialising in the public and not for profit sectors.  The agency conducted a robust 
search exercise including media and social media advertising.  The vacancy was 
also advertised on the PCC’s own website and social media channels.  

 
Role Profile and Person Specification 

 
9. The role profile is a key document in the appointment process.  It sets out clearly the 

expectations and requirements of the role.  Prior to advertisement, the role profile 
was amended to include the additional line management of the Head of Estates as a 
result of the Estates function moving in house from 1 April 2021.  The revised role 
profile approved by the PCC, was included as part of the candidate recruitment pack, 
attached at Appendix A. 

 
Selection process 

 
10. Prospective candidates were required to submit a tailored CV setting out their work 

history (paid or voluntary), responsibilities and achievements as they relate to the 
role, along with a covering letter setting out their experience against the person 
specification.  These had to be submitted to GantenbySanderson by the closing date 
of 6th June. 
 

11. GatenbySanderson made recommendations as to which candidates were suitable for 
initial shortlisting and were then responsible for holding a preliminary interview via 
video link with the relevant applicants. They subsequently provided advice to the 
Commissioner which enabled him to finalise a shortlist of candidates to progress to 
the final stage of the selection process. 

 
12. The final stage of the selection process took place at Sixways Stadium, Worcester, 

on Thursday 30th June 2022.  The selection process comprised a presentation and 
questioning by a Partnership Panel. Candidates were also asked to lead a 
discussion with an Appointment Panel, followed by further questions. 

 
13. The Appointment Panel comprised: 

 

 John Campion (PCC for West Mercia) 

 Tracey Onslow (DPCC for West Mercia) 

 Bal Jacob (Head of People and Organisational Development (HR), West Mercia 
Police) 
 

14. The Partnership Panel comprised a number of senior representatives from a range of 
West Mercia partners (Fire and Rescue Services, Police, Crown Prosecution 
Service, Local Government and a Victims Charity), supported by a senior HR 

Page 2



 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 11 July 2022 
 

 

professional.  The views of the Partnership Panel were fed back to the Appointment 
Panel prior to the Appointment Panel’s deliberations. 
 

Criteria used for selection 
 
15. Each candidate was asked to lead a 10-minute discussion without aids with the 

Appointment Panel based on “Using good governance to deliver all aspects of “The 
Safer West Mercia Plan’”.  All candidates were then asked a consistent set of agreed 
questions.  The questions probed the candidates’ suitability in the following areas: 
 

 Ensuring staff within the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner are 
inspired, motivated, engaged and developed and balanced against any wellbeing 
needs (Question 1) 

 Maintaining an effective and robust relationship with the Police and Crime Panel 
(Question 2) 

 Supporting the PCC in scrutinising the performance of West Mercia Police 
(Question 3) 

 Innovating to improve public confidence in West Mercia (Question 4) 

 Demonstrating grip and accountability through effective performance 
management, whilst driving continuous improvement (Question 5) 

 Commitment to inclusion (Question 6) 
 

16. Attached at Appendix B is a copy of the questions asked of the candidates by the 
Appointment Panel. 
 

17. A copy of the presentation topic and the questions asked by the Partnership Panel is 
attached at Appendix C. 

 
18. For both Panels each question was scored against the standard six-point scale used 

across policing.  The candidate had to meet or exceed an acceptable standard (at 
least 3 out of 6 on that standard scale on each question).  A copy of the scoring 
criteria is attached at Appendix D. 

 
19. At the end of this process Gareth Boulton was selected as the preferred candidate.  

Please refer to Appendix E for their CV / covering letter.  Please note that Appendix 
E is an exempt item and not for publication. 

 
 

Preferred Candidate – Gareth Boulton 
 

20. The Person Specification in the Candidate Pack sets out the criteria required for the 
role.  Gareth’s covering letter and CV is attached, but a summary of how Gareth 
meets these criteria is set out below under the person specification headings. 
 

Qualifications / training 
 
21. Gareth has achieved a BA with Honours in Broadcast Journalism and holds a 

Strategic Management and Leadership Level 7 Diploma. 
 
 

Page 3



 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 11 July 2022 
 

 

 

Knowledge / skills / ability 
 
22. Gareth has held senior roles within the OPCC, most recently as acting Chief 

Executive.  His current substantive post in Deputy Chief Executive. 
 

23. During the interview process Gareth articulated a clear focus on achieving outcomes 
through effective processes and structures, whilst inspiring and motivating the OPCC 
staff to help deliver them. 

 
24. Gareth has a proven track record of working in a political environment and showed in 

both interview and his application a high level of political awareness. 
 
25. Gareth demonstrated in interview a substantial commitment to partnership working, 

effectively articulating his approach to working with partners to deliver the outcomes 
set out in the Safer West Mercia Plan. 

 

Experience / track record 
 
26.  Gareth is a long standing member of the OPCC management team, having 

progressed to Deputy Chief Executive.  
 

27. Gareth demonstrated in his application and at interview a clear and personal 
commitment to inclusion. 

 
28. Gareth has a track record of working collaboratively, influencing others and system 

level thinking. 
 

Other 
 

29. Gareth has shown a commitment to continuous personal development, both in 
interview and by the fact he has achieved a post graduate diploma. 

 
30. In Gareth’s current role he has shown he is commited to working flexibly and 

travelling as required. 
 

 
Terms and Conditions of appointment 
 
31. The Chief Executive Officer post salary is £95,000 per annum. 

 
32. The post holder will be eligible to enrol in the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

Expenses and business mileage costs incurred in connection with the role will be 
reimbursed. 

 
 

Supplementary Information 
 

33. The following supplementary information is included as part of this report: 

Page 4



 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 11 July 2022 
 

 

 

 Appendix A – Candidate Pack including the Job description and Person specification  

 Appendix B – Appointment Panel Questions 

 Appendix C – Partnership Panel Questions 

 Appendix D – Scoring Criteria 

 Appendix E – Gareth Boulton CV / covering letter EXEMPT 

 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Candidate Pack 

Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner, 

West Mercia  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

      May 2022 

 

                              GOLD        

Page 7



 

Table of Contents 
 

 

Table of Contents .................................................................................................................. 2 

Message from Police and Crime Commissioner of West Mercia ........................................ 3 

About Police and Crime Commissioners and our work in West Mercia ............................. 4 

Safer West Mercia Plan ......................................................................................................... 5 

OPCC organisation chart ....................................................................................................... 6 

Role profile ............................................................................................................................ 7 

Person specification ............................................................................................................ 12 

Terms and conditions of appointment ............................................................................... 14 

Timetable of appointment .................................................................................................. 15 

How to apply ....................................................................................................................... 15 

Advertisement ..................................................................................................................... 17 

 

 

 

Page 8



 

Message from Police and Crime Commissioner of West Mercia 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear applicant 

 

I am pleased that you are considering joining my team in West Mercia at what is an exciting time.  

 

I am seeking a high performing individual with the right drive, aspiration and experience to lead 

the office that supports my commissionership.  They will help me ensure the voice of the public is 

at the heart of policing through successful delivery of my Safer West Mercia Plan. The successful 

candidate  will lead a committed team to ensure high quality governance, strategic planning, 

effective scrutiny and productive partnership working. 

 

In return the role has an attractive remuneration package and attractive terms and conditions. 

 

This role represents a key opportunity to make a difference to the communities in Worcestershire, 

Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin and Herefordshire. 

 

If you think you could make a difference in this role, and would like an informal discussion with 

me, please contact Maria Willmott on the below email address to arrange a time and date to 

speak: maria.willmott@westmercia.police.uk 

 

Thank you again for your interest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Campion 

Police and Crime Commissioner  

West Mercia  

  

  
Page 9

mailto:maria.willmott@westmercia.police.uk


 

About Police and Crime Commissioners and our work in West Mercia  
 

Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) were first elected in 2012, and the current PCC for West 

Mercia (John Campion) was first elected in 2016.  John was re-elected in 2021 and has published 

his Safer West Mercia Plan, which is his plan to reduce crime, support victims and deliver efficient 

and effective policing across the three counties. 

 

The role of the PCC is to be the voice of the people and to hold the 

Chief Constable to account. They are responsible for the totality of 

policing, with the aim to cut crime and deliver an effective and 

efficient police service within their police force area. They are elected 

by the public, ensuring the police are answerable to the communities 

they serve. 

 

PCCs ensure community needs are met as effectively as possible, and 

improve local relationships through building confidence and restoring trust. They work in 

partnership across a range of agencies at local and national level to ensure there is a unified 

approach to preventing and reducing crime. 

 

Under the terms of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, PCCs must: 
 

• secure an efficient and effective police for their area; 

• appoint the Chief Constable, hold them to account for running the force, and if necessary 

dismiss them; 

• set the police and crime objectives for their area through a police and crime plan; 

• set the force budget and determine the precept; 

• contribute to the national and international policing capabilities set out by the Home 

Secretary; and 

• bring together community safety and criminal justice partners, to make sure local 

priorities are joined up. 

PCCs are expected to adhere to the Seven Principles of Public Life, as determined and published 

by the Nolan Committee - the 'Nolan Principles'.  

 

West Mercia Police and Crime Information  

Further information relating to the Police and Crime Commissioner for West Mercia is available 

here: https://www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk/  

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life
https://www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk/


 

 

Page 5 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

  

Safer West Mercia Plan 
 

For reference, the full Safer West Mercia Plan can be found here Safer West Mercia Plan 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 11

https://www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk/app/uploads/2021/12/PCC-Report-2125-FINAL.pdf?x26894&x81642


 

 

Page 6 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

OPCC organisation chart  
 

The structure for the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner includes 31 budgeted posts in 
the Governance Establishment, plus two Assistant PCCs. There are a further 44 roles in the Estates 
Services Team (managed through the Estates Manager in the chart below).  

The Estates Service Team is the largest single Department within the OPCC: 
 

 
 

The PCC set a total budget in 2022/23 of £260.5m, with an OPCC budget of £20m.  Full details of 

the PCCs budget can be found here. 

 

The PCC also hosts the Youth Offending Service on behalf of the four upper-tier Councils in West 

Mercia for “pay and rations”.  As a consequence, the PCCs Chief Executive has some line 

management responsibility for the Head of the Youth Offending Service. 

Page 12

https://www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk/app/uploads/2022/04/West-Mercia-22_23-Budget-Report_FINAL-002.pdf?x26894


 

 

Page 7 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

Role profile 
 

Job Title: Chief Executive to the PCC for West Mercia 

  

Responsible To: The Police and Crime Commissioner 

  

Direct Reports: Deputy CEO, Treasurer, Head of Estates, Head of Youth Offending Service 

and Commissioning Manager 

  

Grade and Salary: Circa £95,000 

  

Hours: 37 Hours per week 

  

 Due to the nature of the role, the post holder will be required to work 

flexibly in terms of hours worked each week in order to fulfil the role.  

The post holder may be required to work evenings or weekends, for 

which no additional remuneration is paid. 

  

Location: The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner is based at Hindlip Hall 

in Worcester.  

  

Other Requirements: Applicants must have at least five years continuous residency in the UK at 

the date of application. 

 

Applicants must be UK or EU citizens or have indefinite leave to remain in 

the UK. The post is subject to successful vetting and is politically 

restricted. 

  

Terms and Conditions: The terms and conditions for this post are in line with those for police 

staff. 

 

Equality Commitment: The Police and Crime Commissioner is committed to equality and 

welcomes applications from suitably qualified people from all sections of 

the community, in order to reflect the diversity of the community we 

serve. 

 

As part of this commitment all applicants with a registered disability who 

meet the essential criteria will be invited to interview. 

 

  

Page 13



 

 

Page 8 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

Description and core purpose of role 

 

1. To carry out the duties of Chief Executive Officer as outlined in the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011, i.e., as Head of Paid Service and as Monitoring Officer.  

 

2. To support and advise the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) as a ‘critical friend’ in the 

development of their strategic vision and plans, ensuring their successful implementation and 

regular review. This includes supporting the PCC in the development, implementation and 

review of the West Mercia Police and Crime Plan.  

 

3. To advise, or seek timely professional advice, on all matters of statutory powers, legal or 

regulatory requirements as necessary to ensure that the PCC and the Office of the Police and 

Crime Commissioner (OPCC) meet all of their statutory duties and strategic objectives, 

including monitoring duties under s.7 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  

 

4. To advise the PCC on their personnel responsibilities in respect of the Chief Constable and, in 

particular, on their appointment, terms and conditions of service and matters relating to 

complaints and discipline. 

 

Head of Service responsibilities 

 

5. To advise the PCC on the most appropriate OPCC structure, including pay and conditions of 

staff, to ensure that the OPCC fulfils its duties and responsibilities effectively. 

 

6. To provide effective, dynamic leadership to all staff in the OPCC. This includes their selection, 

management and development to ensure high standards of effective strategic, operational 

and day-to-day delivery.  

 

7. To champion equality, diversity and inclusion in accordance with relevant legislation, and to 

promote an underlying commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion in all that the OPCC 

does. 

 

8. To lead the continuing strategic development of the OPCC, its activities, operations and 

governance and to support the PCC as required in the wider delivery of their role locally, 

regionally and nationally. 

 

Key relationships  

 

9. To develop and maintain strong working relationships with West Mercia Police and wider 

strategic partners, including collaborative and effective links with local authorities and other 

policing and community safety related partners.  

 

Page 14



 

 

Page 9 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

10. To actively engage with the PCC and the Chief Constable in the development of policing plans, 

and in the delivery of shared objectives. This will include the provision of administrative 

support to the Governance Group, as necessary.  

 

11. To build links with relevant national and government institutions, associations and public 

sector partners to support the PCC to contribute to issues concerning policing and reducing 

crime nationally.  

  

12. To represent the PCC as required at high level meetings with West Mercia Police, the Home 

Office, HMICFRS, Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, Local Government 

Association and other outside bodies at a regional and national level. 

 

13. To cultivate and maintain key relations, including:  

 

• The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and their Deputy. 

 

• The Treasurer and Chief Finance Officer within the OPCC 

 

• The Chief Constable and Deputy Chief Constable of West Mercia Police, along with 

relevant senior officers within the Force. 

 

• The Police and Crime Panel for West Mercia. 

 

• Criminal Justice Agencies in West Mercia and other statutory and voluntary bodies, 

including the provision of support to the West Mercia Criminal Justice Board. 

 

• The wider policing network of the West Midlands region. 

 

Financial management, Commissioning and Scrutiny   

 

In conjunction with the Treasurer:  

 

14. Develop the short, medium and long-term financial planning processes for the PCC and the 

Force. 

 

15. Ensure the creation, and effective monitoring of, all financial planning, budgetary, resourcing 

and asset management for the PCC. 

 

16. Lead the strategic development for the PCC in terms of strategic accounting, information 

management, strategic risk, human resource and learning and development strategies, 

ensuring that the OPCC is compliant with current employment legislation. 

 

Page 15



 

 

Page 10 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

17. Support the PCC in scrutinising the performance of the West Mercia Police and policing 

collaborations such as the West Midlands Regional Organised Crime Unit. 

 

18. To ensure appropriate services are commissioned to support the Safer West Mercia Plans.  To 

ensure propriety in the conduct of the Commissioner's business, including making proper 

arrangements and governance for tendering procedures and contracts.  

 

19. To ensure effective and efficient engagement with partners and stakeholders in relation to 

commissioning and service delivery at local, regional and national level and be accountable 

for the performance of the OPCC in all aspects of commissioning.  

 

20. Together with the Treasurer, to ensure the effective and efficient operation of both the 

internal and external audit functions and any other aspects of internal control or external 

inspection. 

 

21. To ensure the effective and efficient management of complaints received by the OPCC. 

 

22. To contribute to the efficient and effective monitoring of service delivery against the Police 

and Crime Plan, and associated delivery plans. 

 

23. Implement the OPCC’s corporate strategies and its day-to-day business, ensuring effective 

governance arrangements are in place to enable the OPCC to monitor, review and improve its 

own performance.  

 

Engagement and Information 

 

24. To support the PCC in ensuring the public are at the heart of policing. 

  

25. To ensure the development of a clear strategy and action plan for communication, 

consultation and engagement. 

 

26. To distil and disseminate relevant information and advice to the PCC to enable appropriate 

challenge to the Force's strategic and financial performance. 

 

27. To ensure strategic needs assessments and risk assessments, which include the views of key 

stakeholders and of communities as part of a planning and commissioning cycle, are carried 

out effectively enabling clear budget alignment and prioritisation. 

 

28. To encourage and support the development of effective strategic partnerships with relevant 

public, private and voluntary sector bodies in the local community. 

 

Page 16



 

 

Page 11 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

29. To encourage and assist the PCC in the development and implementation of effective two-

way communication with all relevant parts of the community, acting as a critical friend. 

 

30. To ensure the effective and efficient engagement with both internal and external partners 

and stakeholders in relation to commissioning and service delivery at local, regional and 

national level. 

31. To oversee all internal and external media and communications activities.  

 

Provision and management of the PCCs estate 

 

32. To support the PCC in the efficient and effective management of the police estate. 

 

33. To ensure the development of a clear strategy and delivery plan for the efficient and 

effective delivery of the PCCs estate function. 

 

34. To ensure the effective processes are in place to ensure appropriate provision and 

maintenance of the police estate to meet the operational needs of the Chief Constable. 

 

 

Other 

 

35. Reporting directly to the PCC, to engage fully with the process of setting personal annual 

performance objectives, and to engage openly and professionally with regular reviews as 

they relate to personal objectives and development. 

 

36. To undertake such other duties, commensurate with the nature and responsibility of the 

post, as the Commissioner may lawfully determine from time to time. 

 

37. This is a politically restricted post as defined in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 
  

Page 17



 

 

Page 12 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

Person specification  
 

Criteria Essential Desirable Measured by 

 

QUALIFICATIONS/TRAINING 

 

• Educated to degree or equivalent level and/or an 

appropriate professional qualification 

• Post-graduate management qualification 

• A relevant legal qualification  

 

 

 

 

Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Y 

Y 

 

 

 

 

Q 

 

Q 

Q/I 

 

KNOWLEDGE /SKILLS/ABILITIES 

 

• Ability to think independently and strategically 

• Able to command respect of officers, colleagues 

and stakeholders at all levels 

• Proven leadership, inspirational skills, vision and 

forward thinking 

• Ability to initiate and develop corporate strategies 

and translate into effective action 

• Highly developed and proven political awareness 

and sensitivity, persuasiveness, management and 

personal skills 

• High level of literacy, numeracy, analytical and IT 

skills 

• Creative approach to problem solving 

• An understanding and appreciation of the 

challenges facing policing and criminal justice 

• High level communication skills both oral and 

written 

• A focus on achieving outcomes 

• High level management, scrutiny, performance 

management and interpersonal skills 

• Ability to deal with complex issues quickly and 

effectively 

• Ability to work effectively under pressure 

• Political awareness 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Y 

 

Y 

 

Y 

 

Y 

 

 

Y 

 

 

Y 

 

Y 

Y 

 

Y 

 

Y 

Y 

 

 

Y 

Y 

Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

 

 

A/I 

 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

A/I 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

A/I 

 

 

A/I 

A/I 

A/I 

 

Page 18



 

 

Page 13 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

EXPERIENCE/TRACK RECORD  

• Proven track record of managing change 

successfully and driving improvement 

• Extensive experience in a senior management 

position in a public sector setting 

• Proactive commitment to equality fairness, 

diversity and the highest levels of professional 

conduct 

• Record of effective partnership and collaborative 

working, influence and delivery 

• Experience of and involvement in corporate level 

policy development and delivery 

• Some experience of working or engagement with 

the criminal justice system 

 

 

 

Y 

 

 

Y 

 

Y 

 

 

 

 

Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Y 

 

 

 

Y 

 

 

A/I 

 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

 

OTHER 

• Flexibility in terms of work outside office hours 

and travel 

• Commitment to continuous personal      

development 

• A positive attitude to meeting the challenge of 

change, development and improvement 

• Ability to drive 

 

 

Y 

 

Y 

 

Y 

 

Y 

  

A/I 

 

A/I 

 

A/I 

Key:  Y = Yes; A = Application; Q = Qualification (Certificate); I = Interview 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



 

 

Page 14 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

Terms and conditions of appointment  
 

Please note that, although completely independent from the Police Service, all staff working in the 

OPCC enjoy the same benefits as police staff. 

 

Salary 

 

The salary on offer for this post is £95,000.  In addition, there is membership of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme, as well as a generous annual leave allowance.  

 

Annual Leave 

 

28 days rising to 33 after 5 years, plus bank holidays 

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

An important and valuable part of your package, the scheme is one of the best ways to plan for 

retirement with an excellent range of benefits that include a tiered ill health retirement package, 

early payment of benefits, the right to retire voluntarily, flexible retirement, secure benefits, 

employer's contributions, life cover and family cover - find out more here.  

 

The employee contribution of 9.90% is currently exceeded by the employer’s contribution of 

16.40%. 

 

Sickness  

 

The Entitlements to sick pay for Police Staff are set out in Police Regulations and the Police Staff 

Council conditions of service which are available upon request.  

 

The Sick Pay scheme is intended to supplement Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) or the Employment and 

Support Allowance if you are ill.  This includes any increase for adult and child dependents, or 

State Insurance Benefits, so as to maintain pay. The period of sick pay payable is governed by 

length of continuous years of service.   

 

  

Page 20

https://www.lgpsmember.org/


 

 

Page 15 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

Timetable of appointment 
 

Closing date for applications (08:00) 6th June (Monday) 

Longlist meeting (for information only) 13th June  

Preliminary interviews with GS commence 14th June onwards 

Shortlist meeting (for information only) 27th June  

Final panel interview with the PCC 30th June 

Confirmation Hearing with the Police and Crime Panel TBC (within 28 days of 

notifying panel) 

 

 

How to apply  

 

  

How to apply We are seeking to appoint a Chief Executive Officer and that appointment will 

be made based on a combination of your written application, video 

submission, and interviews. To apply please visit our recruitment partner’s 

website at: www.gatenbysanderson.com/GSe87183 or by using the ‘search 

for jobs’ function at www.gatenbysanderson.com and entering West Mercia 

Police and Crime Commissioner or the reference number 87183. Register on 

the GS site and then submit the following to us no later than 08:00 on the 

closing date. 

 

1. A tailored CV (maximum 2 pages), setting out your work history (paid or 

voluntary), responsibilities and achievements as they relate to the role; 

 

2. A targeted cover letter (maximum 2 pages) setting out your experience 

against the person specification. 

 
3. If successful at the shortlisting stage, you will be asked to provide the 

following: 

 

• The names and contact details of two referees.  Please note that 

referees will only be contacted if you are selected for interview; 

• Relevant identification (i.e. Passport/driving licence).  

Page 21

http://www.gatenbysanderson.com/GSe87183
http://www.gatenbysanderson.com/


 

 

Page 16 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

During your online registration process, you will be asked to submit diversity 

monitoring information. This is very important and will be kept entirely 

separate from the application process.  You will also be asked if you are 

applying for a guaranteed interview through the Disability Confident Scheme.   

 

Should you encounter any issues with your online application please contact 

charley.cordrey@gatenbysanderson.com quoting the job title/reference 

number. 

Arrangements 

for interview 

Preliminary interviews with GatenbySanderson will be conducted via video 

link (MS Teams/Zoom) and take place as shown in the timetable.   

 

If successful following the preliminary interview stage, you will be called for a 

face-to-face final panel interview with the PCC and other relevant 

stakeholders at Hindlip Hall in Worcester on the day shown. 

 

Expenses incurred by candidates during the recruitment process will not be 

reimbursed, except in exceptional circumstances and only when agreed in 

advance. 

 

As an inclusive employer, if you are called for interview and you require any 

reasonable adjustments or particular arrangements to be made, please do let 

Charley Cordrey know when you are called for interview. 

 

Please let us know as soon as possible if you are unable to meet the proposed 

interview dates.  It may be possible to arrange an alternative date, but this 

cannot be guaranteed.    

Further 

Information 

If you have any questions about the role itself or would like to discuss the 

post and your fit within the organisation, please contact Peter Guilder on 

075454 441 127 or Peter Buffoni on 07964 877 654 at GatenbySanderson. 

Complaints If you feel your application has not been treated in accordance with the 

recruitment principles or you wish to make a complaint, in the first instance, 

please raise it with Peter Buffoni, Partner and Head of the Community 

Protection Practice at peter.buffoni@gatenbysanderson.com.   

 

If you prefer, or if the matter remains unresolved, please feel free to contact 

Mark Turner, Managing Partner at GatenbySanderson at 

mark.turner@gatenbysanderson.com. 

Page 22

mailto:charley.cordrey@gatenbysanderson.com
mailto:peter.buffoni@gatenbysanderson.com
mailto:mark.turner@gatenbysanderson.com


 

 

Page 17 | GatenbySanderson | Executive Search Services 

Advertisement  
 

Chief Executive to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner  
West Mercia  
Salary Circa £95,000pa    

You will be responsible for leading the Office of the West Mercia Police Crime 
Commissioner. 

As a trusted advisor you will ensure they meet statutory obligations and deliver the 
priorities set out in the Safer West Mercia Plan, ensuring the public are at the heart of 
policing, crime is falling and victims are supported. You will ensure robust governance, 
scrutiny and transparency, enabling the Police and Crime Commissioner to hold the Chief 
Constable of West Mercia Police to account. 

To succeed you will need to be a politically astute, strategic and influential leader, able to 
navigate and challenge policing strategies, structures and culture. You will also be capable 
of building positive, collaborative relationships across the diverse range of partners and 
communities we serve. This will enable you to deliver improvements in victim services, 
address re-offending and drive programmes to prevent crime and protect the vulnerable. 

You will have significant experience in an equivalent role and sector such as policing, 
criminal justice or local government. You will operate with integrity, advising the 
Commissioner on associated legal frameworks, emerging legislation, and contribute to 
national policy developments and consultations. 

The role offers an opportunity to make a real difference to the lives of other people, 
providing stimulating professional interest and challenge. 
 
Further information about the role, the required experience and how to apply, can be found 
at our recruitment partner’s site at: www.gatenbysanderson.com/job/GSe87183  
 
For an informal, confidential discussion, please ring GatenbySanderson and speak to 
Peter Guilder on 075454 441 127 or Peter Buffoni on 07964 877 654.  
 
The closing date for applications is 08:00 on Monday 6th June. 
 
Candidates selected for final panel interview will be invited to attend Hindlip Hall, 
Worcester on 30th of June. 

Page 23

http://www.gatenbysanderson.com/job/GSe87183


This page is intentionally left blank



PCC CEO – Appointment Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s name:                                                                Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

 

Presentation Score: 

 

Using good governance to deliver all aspects of ‘The Safer West Mercia Plan’. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



PCC CEO – Appointment Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s name:                                                                Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

Question 1 Score: 

 

How will you ensure staff within the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
are inspired, motivated, engaged and developed and balanced against any 
wellbeing needs? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 26



PCC CEO – Appointment Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s name:                                                                Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

 

Question 2 Score: 

 
What will you do to ensure your relationship with the Police and Crime Panel is 

effective and robust? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 27



PCC CEO – Appointment Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s name:                                                                Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 
 
 
 

Question 3 Score: 

 

How will you support the PCC in scrutinising the performance of West Mercia 

Police?   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 28



PCC CEO – Appointment Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s name:                                                                Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 
 

Question 4 Score: 

 

Recent international, national and local events have undoubtedly reduced public 

confidence in the legitimacy of the police. What innovative approaches would you 

develop and implement to improve public confidence in West Mercia? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



PCC CEO – Appointment Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s name:                                                                Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 
 

 

Question 5 Score: 

 

Describe how you, as Chief Executive will demonstrate you have grip and 

accountability through effective performance management, whilst driving 

continuous improvement and creating an environment where people can 

innovate? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



PCC CEO – Appointment Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s name:                                                                Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

 
 
 

Question 6 Score: 

 

Why is inclusion important? Tell us  how you have or would  develop inclusive 

ways of working which will  ensure inclusion remains a core principle in 

everything we do including ensuring the PCC meets his equality, diversity and 

inclusivity objectives?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



PCC CEO – Partner Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s Name:                                                                 Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

 

Presentation Score: 

 

Through his 2021 – 2025 Safer West Mercia Plan the Commissioner has set out his 
strategic objectives for policing, reducing crime and supporting victims during his 
term of office. This ambition can only be delivered through strong partnership-
based approaches to delivery and improvement.  How would you ensure that over 
the next 2-3 years, the Commissioner’s ambition and the specific activities and 
improvements within the plans are delivered? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



PCC CEO – Partner Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s Name:                                                                 Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

Question 1 Score: 

 

Tell us why you have applied for the CEO role and what do you believe are your key 
strengths and experience that make you stand out from the other candidates we are 
seeing today?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 34



PCC CEO – Partner Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s Name:                                                                 Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

Question 2 Score: 

 
What will you do to further improve working relationship between The Office of 
Police and Crime Commissioner and West Mercia Police, and what do you see as 
the key challenges and/or priorities for mutual focus? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 35



PCC CEO – Partner Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s Name:                                                                 Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

Question 3 Score: 

 

West Mercia Force area has a complex landscape of partners including 
emergency services, local authorities, health services, voluntary and community 
organisation as well as regional and national government.  Can you give examples 
where you have delivered tangible outcomes in a complex landscape? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 36



PCC CEO – Partner Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s Name:                                                                 Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 

Question 4 Score: 

 

How would you describe your leadership style? How would ensure the effective 
strategic and operational leadership of the staff and function of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner? 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



PCC CEO – Partner Panel Interview Questions 
 
Candidate‘s Name:                                                                 Date:   
 

PCC CEO – June 2022 

 
 

 

Question 5 Score: 

 
How will you use your leadership style to ensure the effective commissioning of 
services and service delivery at local, regional and national level? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



SCORING CRITERIA FOR INTERVIEWS 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

RATING CRITERIA 

6 Supplementary to the required standard in a number of areas 

5 Meets the required standard with some additional elements 

4 Meets the required standard 

3 Generally acceptable with some shortcomings 

2 Falls below the standard required 

1 Falls significantly below the standard required 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 41

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 43

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Confirmation Hearing - Chief Executive of the Police and Crime Commissioner's Office
	Appendix A West Mercia PCC CEO candidate pack
	Appendix B Appointment Panel Questions
	Appendix C Partnership Panel Questions
	Appendix D Scoring criteria
	Appendix E - CV GB Redacted
	Appendix E - GB Application Letter


